
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA   CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS   PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

March 3
 
, 2020  9:00 am 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Paulette Chavers

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda

A) Approval of Minutes
a) 02-18-2020 Work Session Minutes
b) 02-18-2020 Council Minutes

B) Consideration of a motion to declare vehicles and equipment in Public Works &
Engineering and Fire Department as surplus and approve disposition in accordance
with the City’s Purchasing Policy.

6. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2020-10: A Resolution pledging
payment of restricted Hotel Motel Tax Proceeds to Statesboro Convention and Visitors
Bureau (SCVB).

7. Consideration of a Motion to adopt amended ordinance codification of Chapter 2 to
include Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board.

8. Consideration of a motion to approve a Development Agreement with West District
Development, LLC, to use $188,365.00 in TAD funds for installation of private
infrastructure within the development commonly known as the West District within the
South Main Tax Allocation District.

9. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to American Signal for the purchase of
three (3) Advantage-S LED Portable Trailer Mounted Message Signs per the Houston-
Galveston Area Council (H-GAC) purchasing cooperative contract in the amount of
$40,000.00.

10. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to Xylem Dewatering Solution, Inc. in the
amount of $92,807.82 for two NC100 Dri-Prime Pumps with funds approved in the 2020
CIP Budget item# WWD-37.



 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to award a Professional Services Contract to Hussey, Gay, 
Bell Inc. in an amount not to exceed $23,400.00 for design and survey services to replace 
the East Olliff St. Water Main with funds approved as part of the 2020 CIP Budget Item# 
WWD-0166. 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to approve Change Order #1 to Insituform Technologies, 
LLC’s contract for $101,091.80 with funds approved as part of the 2020 CIP Budget Item 
WWD-172. 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to Sikes Brothers Inc. for $196,690.00 for 
asphalt paving and repairs at the Waste Water Treatment Plant and the Hill St. Utility 
Complex with funds approved in the 2020 CIP Budget Item# WWD-65, WWD-127 and 
NGD-66. 
 

14. Other Business from City Council 
 
A) City of Statesboro Council retreat will be held on March 13-14, 2020 beginning at 

9:00 am at the Marriott in Augusta, Georgia. The retreat will be facilitated by Michael 
Hourihan from the Carl Vinson School of Government.  

 
15.  City Managers Comments 
 
16. Public Comments (General) 

 
17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

FEBRUARY 18, 2020 

1 
 

 
Mayor & Council Work Session            58 E. Main St. Joe Brannen Hall                                            4:00 PM 
 
A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on February 18, 2020 at 4:00 p.m. at Joe Brannen 
Hall, 58 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: Phil Boyum, Paulette 
Chavers, Venus Mack, John Riggs and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah Harden, City Attorney 
Cain Smith, City Manager Charles Penny. 
  
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar.  
 

1. Public Safety Reports 
a) Fire 

Statesboro Fire Chief Tim Grams presented the 2019 statistics for the Statesboro fire service. These statistics 
include total number of calls, incident responses, fire safety & prevention and training & personnel 
development. The average number of training hours per individual is 347 hours per year. Service types 
include fire suppression, rescue, hazardous condition, prevention, false alarms, severe weather etc. Calls of 
service is when we are contacted to do any activity in the community, prevention activities, smoke detectors, 
fires things of that nature. Chief Grams reviewed the prevention activities, public education inspections and 
smoke detector installation.      

b) Police 
Statesboro Police Chief Mike Broadhead started with staffing issues stating about 26 percent of persons 
interviewed are actually hired. The remaining percentage either withdrew or failed to complete the 
application process or disqualified during the interview process. Other disqualifications are background 
check and psychological evaluation. Training is a priority with the Statesboro Police Department. The State 
requires 20 hours of training per year; each of our officers receives on average 181 hours per year. In June of 
2019 we changed our reporting systems from Uniform Crime Report, UCR, to National Incident Based 
Reporting System, NIBRS. The difference between the two systems is NIBERS is more inclusive and 
requires a lot more information whereas in UCR you report the most serious crime at the incident.  Chief 
Broadhead shared violent crime statistics stating burglary is on a steady decline. Other enforcement numbers, 
include written citations, written warnings, and arrests. Vehicle crashes public and private are a big concern 
in the community. When we can get our staffing up we have positions for crash reduction unit, their main 
purpose will be trying to reduce crashes.  

 
2. Creek on the Blue Mile Update 

George Kelly, with Freese and Nichols and the Project Manager for the Creek on the Blue Mile reviewed 
with Mayor and Council the overall concept for this project. The project is broken down into three phases, 
with the key features of floodway mitigation water supply maintaining flow with a focal point being a creek 
park with walking paths on either side of the creek with economic development.  
Phase I of the project is flood and feasibility evaluation, includes dam and reservoir considerations with the 
primary goal of floodplain mitigation.  
Phase II is the site and feasibility evaluation. This phase starts next month and continues through September. 
Items that will be studied during this phase are safe yield analysis, geotechnical exploration, geological 



2 
 

study, water quality testing (surface & groundwater), and environmental studies. These are done in order to 
see what the impacts will be from the project. Water sampling has already started; as it is required to test 
water in all 4 seasons. There is a lot of regulatory consideration that needs to be made in this project. The 
agencies that we will be dealing with are US Army Corp of engineers, Environment Protection Division 
(State), Wildlife Resource Division (State), US Fish & Wildlife Service (National), Environment Protection 
Agency (National), and Historic Preservation Division. 
Phase III is the regulatory and permitting feasibility study results. This phase will be coordinating with these 
agencies to find out what their requirements are. The Feasibility Study in itself is really the deliverable in this 
phase. When we get to that point, we will know there are possibilities for the project and decisions to move 
forward will need to be made.  

 
3. Community Redevelopment Incentive Tax 

City Manager Charles Penny stated Council approved the Community Redevelopment Incentive Tax or 
Blight Tax on December 17 2019. After it passed, the Mayor reduced the multiplier from 7.0 to .01. By that 
action, Council tabled that matter to be brought back on February 18, 2020. Mr. Penny explained the blight 
tax is a tool used to encourage reinvestment, rehabilitation, or removal of deteriorated or dilapidated 
properties. The standard for blight tax to be imposed two of the following factors must be present; the 
property must be uninhabited, inadequate provisions for ventilation, light, air or sanitation, imminent harm to 
life of property, repeated illegal activity on the individual property, and maintained below City Standard for 
a year. This ordinance is law on the books. The decision now is to leave it in place as it is or override the 
Mayors reduction of the multiplier.  
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:08 pm 
 
 
 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
FEBRUARY 18, 2020 

1 
 

 
 Regular Meeting                              50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                             5:30 PM 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chavers called the meeting to order  
 

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 
Pastor Cary Swanson with Crossroads Community Church gave the Invocation. 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar gave the State of the City address. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Paulette Chaves stated we would have an 8-minute recess. 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting back to order. 
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum led the pledge of allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present  
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present  
Shari Barr Councilmember Present  

 
Other staff present was: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, City Attorney Cain Smith 
and City Clerk Leah Harden. 
 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: None 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 02-04-2020 Council Minutes 

  
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember  Shari Barr 



2 
 

 
  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Application V 20-01-01: Josh Whitfield requests 

a variance from Article XV, Section 1509 (C) Table 6 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinances, for the 
installation of 2 signs with a maximum height of 24 feet at the property located on 87 College Street in Sign 
District 4 and the CBD (Central Business) zoning district (Tax Parcel #S19 000001 003).   

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
No one spoke for or against this request. 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to approve application V 20-01-01.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember  John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember  John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Councilmember  Venus Mack  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



 

3 
 

 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Application CUV 19-10-07: Paula Becker requests 

a conditional use variance from article VII-A of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinances for 0.21 acres of property 
located at 109 Broad Street to utilize the property as an addiction recovery community residence in the R-6 
(Single Family Residential) zoning district (Tax Parcel S29 000073 000).   

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles gave an overview of this application. Staff recommends approval with conditions.  
 
Paula Becker spoke for the request. 
 
Pete Williams spoke against the request, voicing concerns such as safety, parking, crime, diminished property values, 
downtown enhancements and the diminished neighborly feel of the neighborhood.  
David Posner spoke against the request 
Glenn Hanes spoke against the request 
Cathy Skidmore-Hess spoke against the request. 
Helen Cannon spoke against the request 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

Councilmember Shari Barr asked Ms. Becker to answer the concerns that have been voiced.  
 
Paula Becker explained the structure of the program. Explaining this is not a treatment facility, it is long term sober 
residential.  
 
Councilmember John Riggs stated he appraised this house about 10 years ago and stated the driveway of this house is 
no more than ten feet from the bedroom window of the neighboring house. In light of those who have lived there since 
1986 he is going to vote no on this. He thanks Ms. Becker for what she does stating the world needs more of what you 
do and he appreciates it very much.  
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers  

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



4 
 

Councilmember Phil Boyum asked City Attorney Cain Smith where we are on putting together a proposed ordinance for 
regulating recovery residences. 
 
City Attorney Cain Smith stated he would propose an ordinance based on those that have gone through in Palm Beach 
Florida, which were put in place in conjunction with fair housing offices.  
 
City attorney Cain Smith states this request is proper under a previously approved moratorium as it requests reasonable 
accommodations under the Americans with Disabilities Act. There is a potential legal exposure for denial of reasonable 
accommodation. Such accommodations must be made for abstinent alcoholics and addicts who qualify as persons with 
disabilities and are protected under federal law. The only way we could deny it would be if there were clustering of these 
residences.   
 
A motion was made to approve Application CUV 19-10-07 with staff recommendations as follows 1) applicant will be 
required to submit a business license application for City staff’s review and approval, 2) with in six (6) months from the 
date of the conditional use variance approval the applicant will be required to obtain a Georgia Association of Recovery 
Residences (GARR) certification for the community residence to be located at 109 Broad Street, 3) applicant will be 
required to coordinate with the City of Statesboro Fire Department to ensure life safety standards meet current code 
requirements, 4) applicant must not exceed reasonable standards for parking and avoid excessive parking at the location 
and 5) applicant may not install signage at the location.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Occupational Tax Certificate for a Massage Parlor and a Massagist 
Permit  
A) Karla Schwartz Medical Massage Practitioner 

6 North Mulberry Street  
 
A motion was made to approve the Occupational Tax Certificate for a Massage Parlor and a Massagist Permit for Karla 
Schwartz Medical Massage Practitioner located at 6 North Mulberry Street.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
9. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2020-08: A Resolution authorizing the closing of 

the bank account for the Water & Sewer Construction Fund 2010.  
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved  4-1  Councilmember John Riggs Against 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

   



 

5 
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2020-08: the closing of the bank account for the Water & Sewer Construction 
Fund 2010.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
10. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2020-09: A Resolution authorizing the closing of the bank 

account for the Water & Sewer Revenue Bond Sinking Fund.  
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2020-09: the closing of the Bank account for the Water & Sewer Revenue 
Bond Sinking Fund,  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
11. Discussion of Implementing a Blight Tax under Georgia’s Community Development Tax Incentive Program.   

 
City Manager Charles Penny stated on December 17th 2019 Council passed the Community Development Tax and by 
the Mayors authority reduced the multiplier.  Council would need to either override the Mayors reduction or ratify and 
leave the current rate in place.   
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated there is a community demand from the real estate, development and other 
organizations throughout the community for this blight tax, which is why it was brought up in the first place. I realize 
we have new council and they need to be brought up to speed in order to make a decision. We  need to encourage the 
community who have interest in the blight tax to reach out to their councilmembers and then to have a work session with 
the community to get their feedback. If we could take on action the blight tax is on the books, then we could make an 
adjustment based on the feedback we receive. 
 
Mayor McCollar asked if ratification and no action results in the same thing. 
 
City attorney Cain Smith stated there was not an action taken to override it we continue with the adjusted multiplier. 
 
No action was taken on the Blight Tax under Georgia’s Community Development Tax Incentive Program. 
 
A motion was made to put the Blight Tax on the agenda for the second meeting in May.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



6 
 

 
  SECONDER: 

 
  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

 
12. Other Business from City Council: None 

 
13.  City Managers Comments 

 
City Manager Charles Penny stated there is a press release for the Fire Department they will be doing neighborhood 
smoke alarm blitz this weekend in the Whitesville Neighborhood. They will be going around visiting and installing 
smoke alarms in their homes. The Statesboro Fire Department did one in November of 2019 and would like to start doing 
these on a quarterly basis. 

 
14. Public Comments (General)   
Mayor Jonathan McCollar stated there will be a Town Hall meeting at Pittman Park on Saturday February 22, 2020, 
11:00 am.  

 
15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” “Real Estate” 

and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
There was no Executive Session. 
 
16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made to adjourn.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:51 pm  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Councilmember  Paultette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

   



 
 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

                         Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 

  

   

 

  

 

 

    
 

To:   Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

  John Washington, Public Works & Engineering Director 

 

From:  Robert Seamans, Streets and Parks Superintendent 

 

Date:  02/20/2020 

 

RE:  Asset Surplus and Disposition 
 

Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy Section: Vehicle and Equipment Surplus and 

Disposition  
 

Recommendation:  

Staff recommends council approval of surplus and disposition of vehicles and 

equipment in the Public Works & Engineering Department and Fire Department. 
 

Background:  

The items below have exceeded their useful life and need to be declared 

surplus and approved for disposition: 
 

Vehicle Vin#           

1998 Ford Crown Victoria 2FAFP71W4WX174171 
2000 Ford Crown Victoria 2FAFP71W1YX208926 
2001 Dodge Ram 1500 1B7HC16Y515179025 
2003 Chevy Impala 2G1WF55K739307507 
2004 Ford F150 2FTRF17W84CA76893 
2005 Ford Crown Victoria 2FAFP71W65X120630 
  

Sanitation Knuckle Boom Loader and Dump Body 
2004 Pac-Mac KB series TB 1925  
Serial Number TB 1925-2004 10-0125 
 
Streets Division mowers information: 
2014 Exmark LZS 60 inch rear discharge mower 
Serial Number 314624255 
 
2016 Exmark LZE 52 inch side discharge mower 
Serial Number 316625877 
 
 



 

 

Budget Impact:   

Reduction in Maintenance Costs 

Council Person and District: 

N/A (citywide) 
 

Attachments: 

List of Surplus Vehicles and Equipment 
 



 

Surplus Vehicles and Equipment 
Vehicle Vin#           
1998 Ford Crown Victoria 2FAFP71W4WX174171 
2000 Ford Crown Victoria 2FAFP71W1YX208926 
2001 Dodge Ram 1500 1B7HC16Y515179025 
2003 Chevy Impala 2G1WF55K739307507 
2004 Ford F150 2FTRF17W84CA76893 
2005 Ford Crown Victoria 2FAFP71W65X120630 
  

 

Sanitation Knuckle Boom Loader and Dump Body 
2004 Pac-Mac KB series TB 1925  
Serial Number TB 1925-2004 10-0125 
 
Streets Division mowers information: 
2014 Exmark LZS 60 inch rear discharge mower 
Serial Number 314624255 
681 hrs. 
 
2016 Exmark LZE 52 inch side discharge mower 
Serial Number 316625877 
634 hrs. 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: February 26, 2020 
 
RE: March 3, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of Resolution pledging 8.33% of Hotel Motel Tax 
proceeds to Statesboro Convention and Visitors Bureau 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: Upon expiration of City funding commitments regarding the 
shooting complex, money previously allocated to such commitments must be 
used for Tourism, Conventions, and Trade Shows. SCVB already receives HMT 
proceeds for this purpose. 

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed resolution and illustrative representation of state law 
requirements for use of HMT proceeds.  



Resolution Regarding Payment of Restricted Hotel Motel Tax Proceeds to the Statesboro 
Convention and Visitors Bureau 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-10 

A RESOLUTION PLEDGING PAYMENT OF RESTRICTED HOTEL MOTEL 
TAX PROCEEDS TO SCVB 

 
WHEREAS the City of Statesboro collects hotel motel taxes (“HMT”) at six percent;  
 
WHEREAS OCGA ₴48-13-51(b) (the “Section”) dictates certain uses for HMT proceeds by 
local governments utilizing six percent HMT regimes; 

 
WHEREAS Section mandates that 8.33% of HMT must be used for Tourism Product 
Development and that this 8.33% must be used for Tourism, Convention, and Trade Shows 
(“TCT”) in the absence of an identified Tourism Product Development project;  
 
WHEREAS City does not currently have a designated project to receive Tourism Product 
Development funds; 
 
WHEREAS, Statesboro Convention and Visitors Bureau (“SCVB”) currently receives restricted 
HMT funds for TCT purposes; and  
 
WHEREAS, City of Statesboro desires to remit this 8.33% of HMT funds to SCVB to conduct 
TCT promotion in the City of Statesboro until a new Tourism Product Development is designated 
by Mayor and Council. 
 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia 
while in regular session on March 3, 2020 as follows: 
 
Unless and until Mayor and Council so designate a project for Tourism Product Development 
HMT funding, SCVB shall receive an additional 8.33% of HMT proceeds for TCT purposes in 
compliance with the Section.. 
 

       City of Statesboro, Georgia 
 
       _______________________ 
       Jonathan J McCollar, Mayor 
 
       Attest: 
 
       _______________________ 
       Leah Harden, City Clerk 





 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Sharri Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: February 21, 2020 
 
RE: March 3, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Remedying codification error in Chapter 2 of City Code of 
Ordinances for Keep Statesboro Bulloch Beautiful  
 
Recommendation: City adopt amended ordinance codification  
 
Background: Mayor and Council approved Ordinance establishing the Keep 
Statesboro Bulloch Beautiful on October 18, 2016. Original codification is in 
conflict with subsequently adopted ordinance relating to other commissions. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance Revisions and codification 



Page 1  

\ 

Ordinance #2020-01 
 

An Ordinance Amending Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinances creating certain Authorities, Boards 
and Commissions; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend certain sections of Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia to add Division 6 
Division 9 to create a Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 

SECTION 1: 
 
Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of 
Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended to add a Division 6 Division 9 and 
shall read as follows: 

DIVISION 5.DIVISION 9: KEEP STATESBORO-BULLOCH BEAUTIFUL ADSIORY 
BOARD 

 
Sec. 2-121. Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

Sec. 2-122. Chairman; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings. 

Sec. 2-123. Scope of Authority. 

Secs. 2-124-2-140 Reserved. 

Sec. 2-121. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 
 

There is hereby created a board to be known as the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful 
Advisory Board. The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall consist of six (6) 
members who shall be residents of Bulloch County. The Mayor and each City Councilmember 
shall each have authority to appoint one member to the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful 
Advisory  Board. The term of office of each appointed  member of the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch 
Beautiful Advisory  Board shall be two years, and the term shall begin on July 15     and end at the 
stroke of midnight on June 30th

• The initial term for initial members of the Keep Statesboro- 
Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall end on June 30, 2018. The initial members of the Keep 
Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall be appointed at the time this chapter takes 
effect shall hold office for the balance of their terms then remaining, and their successors shall be 
appointed by the Mayor and each City Councilmember for a term of two years. Vacancies on the 
Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board occurring other than by expiration of term 
shall be filled by an interim appointment for the unexpired term by the Mayor or Councilmember 



Page 2  

who appointed the member who vacated the seat. The Mayor and City Council shall have the 
authority to remove any member of the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board 
appointed by it by a majority vote for cause, on written charges, after a public hearing. All 
members shall serve without compensation. 

Sec. 2-122. - Chairman; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings; records. 
 

a. The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall elect a chairman from 
among its members who shall serve for a term of one year and who shall be eligible for 
re-election as chairman. 

b. The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall make its own bylaws and 
rules of procedure and shall determine its time and place of meetings. 

c. The transactions of the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board are governed 
by the Georgia Open Meetings Act O.C.G.A. §§ 50-14-1 et. seq., and it shall be the joint 
and several responsibility of the members to comply with the Georgia Open Meetings 
Act. 

Sec. 2-123. - Scope of Authority. 
 
The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall have the authority to prepare 
studies and reports for the purpose of informing the governing body, city officials, and city staff 
on policy matters related to implementing the goals of the Keep Georgia Beautiful Foundation 
within the corporate limits of the City of Statesboro. The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful 
Advisory Board shall also work to facilitate awareness and support of the goals of the Keep 
Georgia Beautiful Foundation within the corporate limits of the City of Statesboro. 

Secs. 2-124-2-140 Reserved. 
 
SECTION  2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 

 
SECTION 3: This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 

 
   SO ORDAINED this 3rd day of March 2020 in Statesboro, Georgia  
 
 

 
________________________________ 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of  
 
 

ATTEST: 
 

__________________________________ 
Leah Harden, City Clerk  

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: February 25, 2020 
 
RE: March 3, 2020 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of Development Agreement with West District 
Development, LLC, to use $188,365 in TAD funds for installation of private 
infrastructure within the development commonly known as the West District 
within the South Main Tax Allocation District  
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: On January 30, 2020, the TAD Advisory Committee recommended 
that $188,345 in TAD funding be approved by Mayor and Council as 
redevelopment agency for the South Main TAD. 

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 
 
Attachments: Proposed Development Agreement and Application for TAD 
funding submitted by West District Development  



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

- i - 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT 

Between City of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

and 

 

West District Development, LLC 

 

For South Main TAD District  

Private Improvements 
 



 

I-1 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Development Agreement (this “Agreement”), dated as of the ___ day of March, 2020, 
is made by and between the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia, a municipal 
corporation in Bulloch County in the State of Georgia (the“City”), and West District Development 
LLC, a limited liability company as developer, (the “Developer”).  Capitalized terms used herein 
and not otherwise defined have the meanings given to them in Article II or in the Redevelopment 
Plan, as appropriate. 

ARTICLE 1 
RECITALS 

WHEREAS, City is duly authorized to exercise the redevelopment powers granted to local 
governments in the State of Georgia pursuant to the Redevelopment Powers Law and in 
accordance with House Bill 795 enacted by the General Assembly in 2014 and approved in a  
referendum on November 4, 2014; and 

WHEREAS, by a Resolution duly adopted in December, 2014 (the “TAD Resolution”), 
following a public hearing as required by law, the Mayor and Council City  approved the South 
Main Area Redevelopment Plan and created the South Main Tax Allocation District (the “TAD”) 
effective December 31, 2014; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a resolution adopted on October 25, 2017 the Bulloch County 
Board of Commissioners (“County”) gave the consent required under O.C.G.A. Sec. 36-44-8(1); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Powers Law provides that City may enter into public-
private partnerships to accomplish the redevelopment projects contemplated in the Redevelopment 
Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the TAD Resolution expressed the intent of City, as set forth in the 
Redevelopment Plan, to provide funds to induce and stimulate redevelopment in the TAD; and 

WHEREAS, the undertakings contemplated by the Redevelopment Plan include, among 
other renewal activity, development of “Private Infrastructure”; and 

WHEREAS, Developer applied for $188,365.80 in TAD assistance for installation of 
Private Infrastructure at 40 W. Cherry Street with such application being approved by the TAD 
Advisory Committee as required; 

WHEREAS, Developer is the owner of certain real property located within the TAD; and 

WHEREAS, Developer seeks to undertake the installation of Private Infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, in order to induce and further facilitate the successful accomplishment of this 
portion of the Redevelopment Plan, City has indicated its intent to exercise its authority under the 
Redevelopment Powers Law and in accordance with State law to enter into this Development 
Agreement with Developer, pursuant to which, subject to the conditions described herein, the Tax 



 

I-2 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

Allocation Increment collected in the TAD will be used to reimburse Developer for certain 
Redevelopment Costs advanced by Developer in connection with the Private Infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, Developer agrees, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, to undertake this 
critical revitalization in City and to develop the Private Infrastructure consistent with the 
Redevelopment Plan, which revitalization would not be economically feasible without the 
reimbursements being provided through the TAD as contemplated herein; and 

AGREEMENT 

NOW THEREFORE, City and Developer, for and in consideration of the mutual promises, 
covenants, obligations and benefits of this Agreement, hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 2 
GENERAL TERMS 

Section 2.1 Definitions.  Unless the context clearly requires a different meaning, the 
following terms are used herein with the following meanings: 

“Act of Bankruptcy” means the making of an assignment for the benefit of creditors, the 
filing of a petition in bankruptcy, the petitioning or application to any tribunal for any receiver or 
any trustee of the applicable Person or any substantial part of its property, the commencement of 
any proceeding relating to the applicable Person under any reorganization, arrangement, 
readjustments of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute of any jurisdiction, whether now or 
hereafter in effect, or if, within 60 days after the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the 
commencement of any proceeding against the applicable Person seeking any reorganization, 
arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under any 
present or future statute, law or regulation, the proceedings have not been dismissed, or, if, within 
60 days after the appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of the applicable Person, of 
any trustee, receiver or liquidator of the applicable Person or of the land owned by the applicable 
Person, the appointment has not been vacated. 

“Administrative Fee” means an annual administrative fee payable to City from the Special 
Fund as provided in Section 3.3, to reimburse City for actual and/or imputed administrative costs, 
including reasonable charges for the time spent by public employees or agents of City in 
connection with the management and accounting of the Special Fund, in the amount of 1% of 
Positive Tax Increment per year until all TAD bonds or other alternative financing instruments 
have been paid off and closed..  Such Administrative Fee shall not reduce or otherwise diminish 
the total Reimbursement Costs payable to Developer. 

“Advances” means advances by Developer or any other Person or entity to pay any costs 
that constitute Reimbursement Costs for which Developer may be entitled to reimbursement 
pursuant to Section 6.2. 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, (a) a parent, partner, member or owner of 
such Person or of any Person identified in clause (b), and (b) any other Person that, directly or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common 
control with such Person.  As used in this definition, the term “control” means the possession, 



 

I-3 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies 
of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. 

“City” means Statesboro, Georgia, a municipal corporation in the State of Georgia. 

“City Manager” shall mean the appointed or interim Statesboro City Manager of any person 
that City Manager has indicated in writing to Developer to be his/ her designee for the purposes of 
this Agreement. 

 “Developer” means West District Development, LLC, a limited liability company, 
developer of the Private Infrastructure. 

“Development Team” means Developer and its development partners. 

“Disbursements” means the funds deposited into the Special Fund available to Developer 
for reimbursement of Advances. 

 “Effective Date” means March ___, 2020, the effective date of this Agreement. 

“Environmental Laws” means, including but without limitation, the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Sec.6901 et seq., as amended, the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 9601 et seq., as 
amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, and as further amended, 
the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. Sec. 1251 et seq., as amended, the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. Sec. 
7401 et seq., as amended, the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. Sec. 2601 et seq., as 
amended, and any other applicable federal law relating to health, safety or the environment.   

 “Force Majeure” means any event or circumstance which is (a) beyond the reasonable 
control of the Person whose performance is required by this Agreement and (b) caused by fire, 
earthquake, flood, explosion, war, acts of terrorism, invasion, insurrection, mob violence, sabotage, 
lockouts, litigation, condemnation, riots or other civil disorder, national or local emergency, acts 
of God, unusual and unanticipated delays in transportation, unusual and unanticipated delays in 
obtaining lawful permits or consents to which the applicant is legally entitled, strike or labor 
dispute, severe weather conditions, or delays caused by City in excess of 30 days.  Developer will 
give written notice in accordance with Section 9.2 as soon as reasonably practical after the start of 
the Force Majeure event or occurrence giving rise to the delay, specifically identifying the 
occurrence or event and the anticipated resulting delay to the Private Infrastructure.   

“General Contractor” means an experienced, licensed, bondable and reputable general 
contractor selected by Developer. 

“Hazardous Substances” means any hazardous or toxic substance or waste as defined by 
any applicable Environmental Laws, together with (if not so defined by any such Environmental 
Laws) petroleum, petroleum products, oil, PCBs, asbestos, and radon.   

 “Legal Requirements” means any legal requirements (including, without limitation, 
Environmental Laws), including any local, state or federal statute, law, ordinance, rule or 
regulation, now or hereafter in effect, or order, judgment, decree, injunction, permit, license, 



 

I-4 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

authorization, certificate, franchise, approval, notice, demand, direction or determination of any 
governmental authority. 

“Person” includes a corporation, a trust, an association, a partnership (including a limited 
liability partnership), a joint venture, an unincorporated organization, a business, an individual or 
natural person, a joint stock company, a limited liability company, a public body, or any other 
entity. 

“Plans” means the Site Plan and the construction plans for the Private Infrastructure as the 
same may be modified from time to time, including any Material Modifications. 

“Project Approvals” means all approvals, consents, waivers, orders, agreements, 
authorizations, permits and licenses required under applicable Legal Requirements or under the 
terms of any restriction, covenant or easement affecting the Private Infrastructure , or otherwise 
necessary or desirable for the ownership, acquisition, construction, equipping, use or operation 
thereof, whether obtained from a governmental authority or any other person. 

 “Private Infrastructure” means those improvements identified and more fully described in 
Developer’s application for TAD financing, namely The Yard community event greenspace, 
relocation of utilities, pedestrian path and thoroughfare, historical identifiers, and engagement 
pieces for children. 

 “Redevelopment Costs” has the meaning given that term by O.C.G.A. Sec. 36-44-3(8) and 
as used in this Agreement, means Redevelopment Costs of the TAD and any other Redevelopment 
Costs (as defined in the Redevelopment Powers Law) contemplated by this Agreement and 
provided for in the Redevelopment Plan. 

“Redevelopment Plan” means the Redevelopment Plan for the TAD approved by City 
pursuant to the TAD Resolution, following a public hearing as required by law, as may be amended 
from time to time. 

“Redevelopment Powers Law” means the Redevelopment Powers Law, O.C.G.A. Sec. 36-
44-1, et seq., as may be amended from time to time. 

“Reimbursement Costs” means the redevelopment costs authorized to be paid or 
reimbursed by the Redevelopment Plan.  

“Site” means the real property on which the Private Infrastructure will be located within 
the TAD, as more specifically identified as 91 South College Street and commonly known as the 
West District. 

 “Special Fund” means the bank account established by City for the depositing of Tax 
Allocation Increment and payment of Disbursements as permitted under this Agreement. 

“State” means the State of Georgia. 



 

I-5 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

“TAD” means that South Main Tax Allocation District created by City effective December 
31, 2014, pursuant to the Redevelopment Powers Law and the TAD Resolution and as further 
described in the Redevelopment Plan. 

“TAD Resolution” has the meaning provided in the recitals above.  

“Tax Allocation Increment” means the positive tax allocation increment (within the 
meaning of the Redevelopment Powers Law) levied and collected on real and personal property 
within the TAD attributable to the ad valorem millage rate levied annually by City and County. 

Singular and Plural.  Words used herein in the singular, where the context so permits, 
also include the plural and vice versa.  The definitions of words in the singular herein also apply 
to such words when used in the plural where the context so permits and vice versa. 

ARTICLE 3 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 3.1 Representations and Warranties of Developer.  Developer hereby 
represents and warrants to City that: 

(a) Organization and Authority.  Developer is in good standing and authorized to 
transact business in the State of Georgia as a domestic limited liability company.  
Developer’s officers have the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this 
Agreement, to incur and perform its obligations hereunder, and to carry out the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement. 

(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and 
proceedings by or on behalf of Developer, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, 
including any approval of or filing with any governmental authority, are required by or on 
behalf of Developer as a condition to the valid execution, delivery, and performance by it 
of this Agreement.  This Agreement, when duly executed and delivered by each party 
hereto, will be the valid, binding and enforceable obligation of Developer in accordance 
with its terms, subject to matters and laws affecting creditors’ right generally and to general 
principles of equity. 

(c) Organizational Documents.  Developer’s organizational documents are in full force 
and effect as of the Effective Date, and no fact or circumstance has occurred that, by itself 
or with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute a default 
thereunder. 

(d) Bankruptcy.  No Act of Bankruptcy has occurred with respect to Developer. 

(e) No Litigation.  There is no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge 
of Developer, threatened against or affecting Developer in any court, before any arbitrator 
or before or by any governmental body which (i) in any manner raises any question 
affecting the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, (ii) could materially and 
adversely affect the business, financial position or results of operations of Developer, or 



 

I-6 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

(iii) could materially and adversely affect the ability of Developer to perform its obligations 
hereunder. 

(f) No Undisclosed Liabilities.  Developer is not in default under or in breach of any 
material contract or agreement, and no event has occurred which, with the passage of time 
or giving of notice (or both) would constitute such a default, which has a material adverse 
effect on the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

(g) Principal Office.  The address of Developer’s principal place of business is PO Box 
2116, Statesboro Ga, 30458. 

(h) Licenses and Permits.  Developer will at all appropriate times possess all franchises, 
patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, licenses and permits, and rights in respect of 
the foregoing, adequate for the conduct of its business substantially as now conducted or 
as it is intended to be conducted with respect to the Private Infrastructure 

(i) Project Location.  The Private Infrastructure is located wholly within City and 
further, wholly within the boundaries of tax parcels owned by Developer as such parcels 
are identified by the Board of Tax Assessors for Bulloch County, Georgia. 

(j) Utilities.  All utility services necessary and sufficient for the construction and 
operation of the Private Infrastructure will be obtained when needed and will at all 
appropriate times be available through dedicated public rights of way or through perpetual 
private easements. Developer shall be responsible for all utilities installation. 

(k) Liens.  Other than as to City, there are no material liens of record of laborers, 
subcontractors or materialmen on or respecting the Private Infrastructure on the Effective 
Date. Developer shall provide a signed notarized affidavit/form certifying there are no 
outstanding liens on Project to the City. 

(l) Title.  As of the Effective Date, Developer holds fee simple title to the Site. 

(m) Tax Allocation Increment.  Developer acknowledges that City has made no 
representation as to the amount of Tax Allocation Increment to be generated by the TAD 
and that Developer has had the opportunity to investigate and make its own conclusions as 
to the amount of Tax Allocation Increment to be generated by the TAD.  

Section 3.2 Representations and Warranties of City.  City hereby represents and 
warrants to Developer that: 

(a) Organization and Authority.  City is a municipal corporation duly created and 
existing under the laws of the State.  City has the requisite power and authority to execute 
and deliver this Agreement, to incur and perform its obligations hereunder, and to carry 
out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. 

(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and 
proceedings by or on behalf of City, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, 



 

I-7 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

including any approval of or filing with any governmental authority, are required by or on 
behalf of City as a condition to the valid execution, delivery, and performance by City of 
this Agreement.  This Agreement, when duly executed and delivered by each party hereto, 
will be the valid, binding and enforceable obligation of City in accordance with its terms, 
subject to matters and laws affecting creditors’ right generally as to political bodies and to 
general principles of equity. 

(c) No Litigation.  There are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of any kind 
pending or threatened against City before any court, tribunal or administrative agency or 
board or any mediator or arbitrator that questions the validity of this Agreement or any 
action taken or to be taken pursuant hereto. 

(d) TAD Resolution.  The TAD Resolution has been validly adopted, remains in full 
force and effect, and has not been amended or supplemented since its date of adoption.  No 
amendment of or supplement to the TAD Resolution is contemplated by City. 

(e) Redevelopment Agent.  City has been duly designated as Redevelopment Agent for 
the TAD as contemplated by the Redevelopment Powers Law. 

(f) Recitals.  The Recitals in Article I of this Agreement relating to actions taken by 
public bodies are true and correct. 

(g) Redevelopment Plan and TAD.  The Redevelopment Plan and the TAD have been 
duly adopted and created by City 

ARTICLE 4 
DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION 

Section 4.1 Construction of the Private Infrastructure 

(a) Developer will use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and construct, or 
cause the development and construction of, the Private Infrastructure with diligence and 
good faith in a good and workmanlike manner and in substantial conformance with the 
TAD financing application and the descriptions thereof set forth therein, all subject to 
Force Majeure.  City acknowledges that during the term of this Agreement modifications 
to the Private Infrastructure as contemplated on the Effective Date may occur.   Developer 
will construct, or cause the construction of, the Private Infrastructure in accordance with 
all applicable Legal Requirements. 

(b) Upon completion of the construction of the Private Infrastructure, Developer will 
provide City with a final cost summary of all costs and expenses associated with the Private 
Infrastructure, a certification that it has been completed, and evidence that all amounts 
owing to contractors and subcontractors have been paid in full evidenced by customary 
affidavits executed by such contractors.   

Section 4.2 Approvals Required for the Project.  Developer will obtain or cause to be 
obtained all necessary Project Approvals for the Private Infrastructure and will comply with all 
Legal Requirements of any governmental body regarding the use or condition of the Private 



 

I-8 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

Infrastructure. Developer may, however, contest any such Legal Requirement or Project Approval 
by an appropriate proceeding diligently prosecuted. City agrees to process zoning and permit 
applications in a prompt and timely manner in accordance with its normal rules and procedures. 

ARTICLE 5 
DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND SPECIAL COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

Section 5.1 Litigation.  Developer will notify City in writing, within fifteen (15) 
business days of its having knowledge thereof, of any actual or pending litigation or adversarial 
proceeding in which a claim is made against Developer or against the Site or the Private 
Infrastructure in any case which Developer reasonably considers may impair Developer’s ability 
to perform its obligations under this Agreement, and of any judgment rendered against Developer 
in any such litigation or proceeding. Developer will notify City in writing and within fifteen (15) 
business days of any matter that Developer reasonably considers may result or does result in a 
material adverse change in the financial condition of Developer or in the financial condition or 
operation of the Private Infrastructure. 

Section 5.2 Maintenance of the Project.  Developer agrees that, for as long it has a 
real property interest in the Private Infrastructure, it will at its own expense (i) keep the Private 
Infrastructure, or cause it to be kept, in as reasonably safe condition in accordance with applicable 
Legal Requirements as its operations permit, and (ii) keep the Private Infrastructure in good repair 
and in good operating condition.  . 

Section 5.3  Liens and Other Charges.  Developer will duly pay and discharge, or 
cause to be paid and discharged, before the same become overdue all claims for labor, materials, 
or supplies that if unpaid might by law become a lien or charge upon the Private Infrastructure 
unless Developer is lawfully protesting the same, in which case Developer will provide a suitable 
“mechanics lien bond” to discharge such lien from the Private Infrastructure. 

Section 5.4 Compliance with Laws, Contracts, Licenses, and Permits.  Developer 
will comply in all material respects with (a) all applicable laws related to the Private Infrastructure, 
(b) all material agreements and instruments related to or regarding the Private Infrastructure by 
which it may be bound, (c) all restrictions, covenants and easements affecting the Private 
Infrastructure (d) all applicable decrees, orders and judgments related to or regarding the Private 
Infrastructure, and (e) all licenses and permits required by applicable laws and regulations for the 
ownership, use, or operation of the Private Infrastructure. 

Section 5.5 Taxes.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer will pay when due 
all taxes imposed upon or assessed against the Site and the Private Infrastructure or arising in 
respect of the use or possession thereof, and will provide to City, within ten days after a written 
request therefor, validated receipts showing the payment of such taxes when due.  Developer will 
have the right to appeal an assessment for ad valorem tax purposes. 

Section 5.6 Insurance.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer, or its Affiliates, 
will keep the Private Infrastructure continuously insured consistent with its normal operating 
policies and subject to its customary deductibles and limitations, but Developer may at any time 
elect to be self-insured.  Any such insurance maybe provided through blanket insurance policies 



 

I-9 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

covering one or more facilities owned or operated by Developer and through any combination of 
underlying and umbrella policies as Developer may select. 

Section 5.7 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments.  City and Developer 
agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, 
acknowledged and delivered, such supplements and amendments hereto and such further 
instruments as may reasonably be required for carrying out the intention or facilitating the 
performance of this Agreement; provided that the rights of City and Developer hereunder and the 
ability of Developer to construct the Private Infrastructure are not impaired thereby. 

Section 5.8 Performance by Developer.  Developer will perform all acts to be 
performed by it hereunder and will refrain from taking or omitting to take any action that would 
materially violate Developer’s representations and warranties hereunder or render the same 
materially inaccurate as of the Effective Date and subsequent Requisition dates. 

ARTICLE 6 
DISBURSEMENT; SPECIAL FUND; FINANCING ALTERNATIVES 

Section 6.1 Advances. 

(a) Developer shall may make or cause to be made Advances sufficient to fully install 
and construct all Private Infrastructure. 

(b) Developer may submit a Requisition to City for its review and approval for 
reimbursement for any such Advances in accordance with Section 6.2. 

Section 6.2 Disbursement.  Subject to substantial compliance by Developer with all of 
the material terms and conditions of this Agreement, the funds deposited into the Special Fund 
will be available for disbursement to Developer for reimbursement of Advances at such times and 
in such amounts as determined (“Disbursement”) in accordance with the following procedures: 

(a) Developer may submit Requisitions to City upon paid Advances toward 
construction and installation of the Private Infrastructure.  

(b) The construction for which Reimbursement Costs are included in the Requisition 
must be reviewed and approved by City or its appointed consultant to verify the approval 
of the construction, the cost of completed construction, and compliance with this 
Agreement. 

(c) In no event shall Disbursements to Developer exceed a sum total of $188,365. 

Section 6.3 Limited Liability. 

(a) The payment of all Disbursements required by be paid by City under this 
Agreement shall be special or limited obligations of City payable only from the Special 
Fund.  City will have no liability to honor any Requisition except from amounts on deposit 
in the Special Fund. 



 

I-10 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

(b) To the extent permitted by State law, no director, officer, employee or agent of City 
will be personally responsible for any liability arising under or growing out of the 
Agreement. 

(c) City shall not be obligated to disburse any funds to any person under this 
Agreement other than as directed by Developer or as otherwise permitted under this 
Agreement. 

Section 6.4 Special Fund.  City will deposit the Tax Allocation Increment into the 
Special Fund as property tax payments are received. Any funds obtained from TAD bonds or other 
financing arrangements entered into by City shall also be deposited into the Special Fund 

ARTICLE 7 
INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 7.1 Indemnification.  Developer will defend, indemnify, and hold City and its 
agents, employees, officers, and legal representatives (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) 
harmless for all claims, causes of action, liabilities, fines, and expenses (including, without 
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs, and all other defense costs and interest) 
(collectively, the “Losses”) for injury, death, damage, or loss to persons or property sustained in 
connection with or incidental to the construction of the Private Infrastructure and, to the extent 
caused by construction of other elements of the Private Infrastructure pursuant to a construction 
contract directly between the contractor and the Developer, sustained in connection with the 
construction of such elements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article, (1) 
Developer’s indemnification obligation under this Article is limited to the policy limits available 
under the insurance policies required under Section 5.6; (2) Developer will not be obligated to 
indemnify any Indemnified Person for the Indemnified Person’s own negligence, recklessness or 
intentional act or omission; and (3) Developer will not be obligated to indemnify any Indemnified 
Persons to the extent that any claims that might otherwise be subject to indemnification hereunder 
resulted, in whole or in part, from the gross negligence, recklessness or intentional act or omission 
of any other Indemnified Person or Persons. 

Section 7.2 Notice of Claim.  If an Indemnified Person receives notice of any claim or 
circumstance which could give rise to indemnified Losses, the receiving party must give written 
notice to Developer within ten (10) business days.  The notice must include a description of the 
indemnification event in reasonable detail, the basis on which indemnification may be due, and 
the anticipated amount of the indemnified Losses.  If an Indemnified Person does not provide this 
notice within the ten-business-day period, it does not waive any right to indemnification except to 
the extent that Developer is prejudiced, suffers loss, or incurs expense because of the delay. 

Section 7.3 Defense.  Developer may assume and control the defense of the claim based 
on the indemnified Losses at its own expense with counsel chosen by Developer with the 
concurrence of the Indemnified Person.  In such case, Developer will also control any negotiations 
to settle the claim.  Within ten (10) business days after receiving written notice of the 
indemnification request, Developer will advise the Indemnified Person as to whether or not it will 
defend the claim.  If Developer does not assume the defense, the Indemnified Person will assume 
and control the defense and all defense expenses actually incurred by it will constitute Losses. 



 

I-11 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

Section 7.4 Separate Counsel.  If Developer elects to defend a claim, the Indemnified 
Person may retain separate counsel, at the sole cost and expense of such Indemnified Person, to 
participate in (but not control or impair) the defense and to participate in (but not control or impair) 
any settlement negotiations.  Developer may settle the claim without the consent or agreement of 
the Indemnified Person, unless the settlement (i) would result in injunctive relief or other equitable 
remedies or otherwise require the Indemnified Person to comply with restrictions or limitations 
that materially and adversely affect the Indemnified Person, (ii) would require the Indemnified 
Person to pay amounts that Developer does not fund in full, or (iii) would not result in the 
Indemnified Person’s full and complete release from all liability to the plaintiffs or claimants who 
are parties to or otherwise bound by the settlement. 

Section 7.5 Survival.  The provisions of Article VII will remain in effect until the 
expiration of one (1) years after completion of the Private Infrastructure  

ARTICLE 8 
DEFAULT 

Section 8.1 Default by Developer.   

(a) The following will constitute a “Default” by Developer:    

(i) Failure of Developer to materially and timely comply with and perform any 
of its covenants, conditions or obligations set forth in this Agreement; 

(ii) The declaration of an “event of default” by any lender under any Loan 
Documents, if any, with respect to Project Financing or a breach of Section 5.2;  

(iii) An Act of Bankruptcy of Developer; 

(iv) Any material representation or warranty made by Developer in this 
Agreement or subsequently made by it in any written statement or document 
furnished to City and related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is 
false, inaccurate or fraudulent in any material respect as of the date such 
representation or warranty is made; and 

(v) Any material report, certificate or other document or instrument furnished 
to City by Developer in relation to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
is false, inaccurate or misleading in any material respect; or if any report, certificate 
or other document furnished to City on behalf of Developer, to the extent that 
Developer knows such document is false, inaccurate or misleading and fails to 
promptly report such discrepancy to City. 

Section 8.2 Remedies.  If a Default by Developer occurs and is continuing 60 days after 
receipt of written notice to Developer from City specifying the existence of such Default (or within 
a reasonable time thereafter if such Default cannot reasonably be cured within such 60-day period 
and Developer begins to diligently pursue the cure of such Default within such 60-day period), the 
Default will become an “Event of Default,” and City will be entitled to elect any or all of the 
following remedies: (i) terminate this Agreement and discontinue further funding hereunder, (ii) 



 

I-12 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

seek any remedy at law or in equity that may be available as a consequence of Developer’s default; 
(iii) pursue specific performance of this Agreement or injunctive relief; or (iv) waive such Event 
of Default.  Upon termination of this Agreement as provided in this Section, none of the parties 
hereto will have any further rights, duties or obligations hereunder. 

Section 8.3 Remedies Cumulative.  Except as otherwise specifically provided, all 
remedies of the parties provided for herein are cumulative and will be in addition to any and all 
other rights and remedies provided for or available hereunder, at law or in equity. 

Section 8.4 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  In the event of an 
Event of Default by Developer, if City employs attorneys or incurs other expenses for the 
collection of amounts due hereunder or for the enforcement of the performance or observance of 
any covenants or agreements on the part of Developer contained herein, Developer agrees that it 
will on demand therefor pay to City, as applicable, the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such 
other reasonable expenses so incurred by City, the amount of such fees of attorneys to be without 
regard to any statutory presumption. 

Section 8.5 Default by City.  The following will constitute a “Default” by City:  Any 
material breach by it of any representation made in this Agreement or any material failure by it to 
observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be observed or performed 
hereunder, for a period of 60 days after written notice specifying such breach or failure and 
requesting that it be remedied, given to it by Developer; provided that in the event such breach or 
failure can be corrected but cannot be corrected within said 60-day period, the same will not 
constitute a default hereunder if corrective action is instituted by the defaulting party or on behalf 
of the defaulting party within said 30-day period and is being diligently pursued. 

Section 8.6 Remedies Against City.  Upon the occurrence and continuance of a Default 
by City hereunder, Developer may seek any remedies available at law or in equity and may assert 
a claim for attorney’s fees, reasonable expenses and actual costs. 

ARTICLE 9 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.1 Term of Agreement; Survival.  This Agreement will commence on the 
Effective Date and will expire on the earlier to occur of the date on which all Reimbursement Costs 
have been fully reimbursed to Developer from the Special Fund  

Section 9.2 Notices.  Any notice sent under this Agreement (except as otherwise 
expressly required) must be written and mailed or sent by overnight courier or personally delivered 
to an officer of the receiving party at the following addresses: 

If to Developer: 

Josh Whitfield 

PO Box 2116 

Statesboro, Ga 30459 



 

I-13 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

If to City: 

Statesboro City Manager 

50 E Main St 

Statesboro Georgia 30458 

With a copy to: City Attorney at same address 

Each party may change its address by written notice in accordance with this Section.  Any 
communication addressed and mailed in accordance with this Section will be deemed to be given 
when so mailed, and any communication so delivered in person will be deemed to be given when 
receipted for by, or actually received by the party identified above. 

Section 9.3 Amendments and Waivers.  Any provision of this Agreement may be 
amended or waived if such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the parties hereto.  
No course of dealing on the part of any party to this Agreement, nor any failure or delay by any 
party to this Agreement with respect to exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder will 
operate as a waiver thereof. 

Section 9.4 Invalidity.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held 
unenforceable in any respect, such unenforceability will not affect any other provision of this 
Agreement. 

Section 9.5 Applicable Law.  This Agreement is a contract made under and will be 
construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the United States of America and the 
State of Georgia.  Venue for any legal action resulting from this Agreement shall be in the court 
of appropriate jurisdiction in Bulloch County. 

Section 9.6 Entire Agreement.  This written agreement represents the final agreement 
between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or 
subsequent oral agreements of the parties.  There are no unwritten oral agreements between the 
parties. 

Section 9.7 Approval by the Parties.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits 
approval or consent to be hereafter given by any of the parties, the parties agree that such approval 
or consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and will be deemed given 
if no written objection is delivered to the requesting party within ten (10) business days after 
delivery of the request to the approving party. 

Section 9.8 Additional Actions.  The parties agree to take such actions, including the 
execution and delivery of such documents, instruments, petitions and certifications as may be 
necessary or appropriate, from time to time, to carry out the terms, provisions and intent of this 
Agreement and to aid and assist each other in carrying out said terms, provisions and intent. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be duly 
executed as of the day and year first written above. 



 

I-14 
21307678v.2 
55198168v.2 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Attested by Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

 
West District Development, LLC 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Josh Whitfield, Managing Member 









































































































































































































 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

                         Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
   
 
  
 
 
    
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  John Washington, Public Works / Engineering Director 
 
From:  Robert Seamans, Streets and Parks Superintendent 
 
Date:  February 17, 2020 
 
RE:  Contract Award – Message Boards STS-121 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends and request the Consideration of a Motion for Award of 
contract to American Signal for the purchase of three (3) Advantage-S LED 
Portable Changeable Message Signs / Trailer Mounted units per Houston-
Galveston Area Council (H-GAC) contract in the amount of $40,000.00. These 
items will be purchased with funds from the 2018 TSPLOST. 
 
Background:  
The Message Boards are to be utilized in the Street Division of the Public Works / 
Engineering Department. The Message Boards, if approved, are funded in the 
amount of $40,000.00 in the FY 2020 budget and listed under CIP# STS-121. As 
stated, the Message Boards will be funded from 2018 TSPLOST. The H-GAC 
Contract #PE05-19, meets all requirements, specifications and warranty needed.  
 
Budget Impact:   
Reduce Maintenance Cost 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
H-GAC Contract #PE05-19 



COMPANY DELIVER TO

STATESBORO, CITY OF
5 BRASWELL ST. STATESBORO GA. 30458
STATESBORO, GA 30458

STATESBORO, CITY OF
5 BRASWELL ST. STATESBORO GA. 30458
STATESBORO, GA 30458

Contact: ROBERT SEAMANS       Contact Phone: 912.764.0685       Contact Email: robert.seamans@statesboroga.gov

Sales Rep: PP001     Rep Phone: 770-789-5188 Payment Terms: 30 days from invoice

Rep Email: pporter@amsig.com Shipping Terms: TRUCK PREPAID & ADDED

Line # Product Description Quantity UOM Price Value

0 AMS3006462
5

GP-465T Advantage-S  LED Portable 
Changeable Message Sign, 48" x 78" 
FULL matrix display, trailer-mounted, 
standard power configuration (4x 6VDC 
batteries / 80W solar / AC charger / MPPT 
solar charge controller)

2 Each 11600.00 23200.00

Warranty 1 year 0.00

0 AMS3006471
0

GP-432T Advantage-S (AMS30064710) 
LED Portable Changeable Message Sign, 
48" x 96" FULL matrix display, trailer-
mounted, standard power configuration 
(4x 6VDC batteries / 80W solar / AC 
charger / MPPT solar charge controller)

1 Each 12500.00 12500.00

Warranty 1 year 0.00

0 OPT30125076 
        

OPTION: RADAR OVERSPEED 
DETECTION (K BAND)

1 Each 900.00 900.00

Continued

Page 1 of 2

If signed, can serve as PO:                                                 .

Ship Date Requested:                                                          .

Ship To:                                                                                .

                                                                                             .

                                                                                             .

Shipping Contact:                                                                 .

Phone:                                                                                  .

Email:                                                                                    .

Trailer Color:                            Hitch Type:                           .

American Signal
2755 Bankers Industrial Dr

Atlanta, GA 30360
Tel: 770-448-6650 Fax: 

Email: 
http://amsig.com

QUOTATION

Customer Code

PO No.

Our Reference

Date : 03 Dec 2019

: QU-0001196

:  

: 



Line # Product Description Quantity UOM Price Value

0 OPT30155090 
        

TRAFFIC STAT COMPUTER (TSC), X32-
K TRAFFIC INFO AND DATA 

1 Each 1500.00 1500.00

0 OPT30125430 
        

CELL PHONE MODEM FOR REMOTE 
PROGRAMMING AND INFORMATION 
4G LTE/WIFI/GPS (REQUIRED FOR 
STREAMING AND ONLINE COFTWARE 
CONTROL)

1 Each 1000.00 1000.00

0 OPT30125380 
        

AMERICAN SIGNAL ITS CLOUD 
MANAGER SOFTWARE 
SUBSCRIPTION. VERIZON WIRELESS 
PLAN, VPN FOR SECURITY AND 
RADAR DATA AVAILABLE

1 Each 360.00 360.00

0 FREIGHT 
OUT

FREIGHT OUT TO STATESBORO 
(AVERAGE FREIGHT COST PER UNIT)

1 Each 540.00 540.00

PRICING ABOVE INCLUDES ORANGE TRAILER PAINT, 2" BALL TOWING HITCH, AND 4-
FLAT ELECTRICAL TOWING CONNECTOR AS STANDARD. NON-STANDARD 
SELECTIONS MAY RESULT IN ADDITIONAL COST.

PRICING CONTINGENT ON HGAC CONTRACT PE05-19
 
SHIPMENT DATE: 4-5 WEEKS ARO

Shipping Terms: FOB American Signal Company, Atlanta GA.  Shipping to be paid upon 
delivery, unless prior arrangements have been made. Facility should have forklift or 
other means to unload units.
Buyer agrees to American Signal's terms and conditions.  There are terms and 
conditions applicable to this transaction in addition to those specified above, which are 
available upon your request. Any special requirements need to be noted on purchase 
order

Value of Goods

Total Discount

Quotation Total

$ 40,000.00

$ 0.00

$ 40,000.00

Page 2 of 2

If signed, can serve as PO:                                                 .

Ship Date Requested:                                                          .

Ship To:                                                                                .

                                                                                             .

                                                                                             .

Shipping Contact:                                                                 .

Phone:                                                                                  .

Email:                                                                                    .

Trailer Color:                            Hitch Type:                           .

American Signal
2755 Bankers Industrial Dr

Atlanta, GA 30360
Tel: 770-448-6650 Fax: 

Email: 
http://amsig.com

QUOTATION

Customer Code

PO No.

Our Reference

Date : 03 Dec 2019

: QU-0001196

:  

: 


























































	03-03-2020 Council Agenda
	02-18-2020 Work Session Minutes
	02-18-2020 Council Minutes
	03-03 Memo Surplus List March 2020 5b
	03-03 Surplus Vehicles and Equipment_List 5b
	03-03 SCVB HMT memo
	03-03 SCVB HMT Resolution
	03-03 OCGA 48-13-51(b)
	03-03 Keep Statesboro Bulloch Beautiful
	Ordinance 2016-11 Keep Staesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board
	03-03 West District DA memo
	03-03 West District DA
	ARTICLE 1  RECITALS
	ARTICLE 2  GENERAL TERMS
	Section 2.1 Definitions.  Unless the context clearly requires a different meaning, the following terms are used herein with the following meanings:

	ARTICLE 3  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
	Section 3.1 Representations and Warranties of Developer.  Developer hereby represents and warrants to City that:
	(a) Organization and Authority.  Developer is in good standing and authorized to transact business in the State of Georgia as a domestic limited liability company.  Developer’s officers have the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver thi...
	(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and proceedings by or on behalf of Developer, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, ...
	(c) Organizational Documents.  Developer’s organizational documents are in full force and effect as of the Effective Date, and no fact or circumstance has occurred that, by itself or with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would cons...
	(d) Bankruptcy.  No Act of Bankruptcy has occurred with respect to Developer.
	(e) No Litigation.  There is no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Developer, threatened against or affecting Developer in any court, before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body which (i) in any manner raises an...
	(f) No Undisclosed Liabilities.  Developer is not in default under or in breach of any material contract or agreement, and no event has occurred which, with the passage of time or giving of notice (or both) would constitute such a default, which has a...
	(g) Principal Office.  The address of Developer’s principal place of business is PO Box 2116, Statesboro Ga, 30458.
	(h) Licenses and Permits.  Developer will at all appropriate times possess all franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade names, licenses and permits, and rights in respect of the foregoing, adequate for the conduct of its business substantial...
	(i) Project Location.  The Private Infrastructure is located wholly within City and further, wholly within the boundaries of tax parcels owned by Developer as such parcels are identified by the Board of Tax Assessors for Bulloch County, Georgia.
	(j) Utilities.  All utility services necessary and sufficient for the construction and operation of the Private Infrastructure will be obtained when needed and will at all appropriate times be available through dedicated public rights of way or throug...
	(k) Liens.  Other than as to City, there are no material liens of record of laborers, subcontractors or materialmen on or respecting the Private Infrastructure on the Effective Date. Developer shall provide a signed notarized affidavit/form certifying...
	(l) Title.  As of the Effective Date, Developer holds fee simple title to the Site.
	(m) Tax Allocation Increment.  Developer acknowledges that City has made no representation as to the amount of Tax Allocation Increment to be generated by the TAD and that Developer has had the opportunity to investigate and make its own conclusions a...

	Section 3.2 Representations and Warranties of City.  City hereby represents and warrants to Developer that:
	(a) Organization and Authority.  City is a municipal corporation duly created and existing under the laws of the State.  City has the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to incur and perform its obligations hereunder, ...
	(b) Due Authorization, Execution and Delivery.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all necessary action and proceedings by or on behalf of City, and no further approvals or filings of any kind, inclu...
	(c) No Litigation.  There are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations of any kind pending or threatened against City before any court, tribunal or administrative agency or board or any mediator or arbitrator that questions the validity of thi...
	(d) TAD Resolution.  The TAD Resolution has been validly adopted, remains in full force and effect, and has not been amended or supplemented since its date of adoption.  No amendment of or supplement to the TAD Resolution is contemplated by City.
	(e) Redevelopment Agent.  City has been duly designated as Redevelopment Agent for the TAD as contemplated by the Redevelopment Powers Law.
	(f) Recitals.  The Recitals in Article I of this Agreement relating to actions taken by public bodies are true and correct.
	(g) Redevelopment Plan and TAD.  The Redevelopment Plan and the TAD have been duly adopted and created by City


	ARTICLE 4  DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION
	Section 4.1 Construction of the Private Infrastructure
	(a) Developer will use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and construct, or cause the development and construction of, the Private Infrastructure with diligence and good faith in a good and workmanlike manner and in substantial conformance wit...
	(b) Upon completion of the construction of the Private Infrastructure, Developer will provide City with a final cost summary of all costs and expenses associated with the Private Infrastructure, a certification that it has been completed, and evidence...

	Section 4.2 Approvals Required for the Project.  Developer will obtain or cause to be obtained all necessary Project Approvals for the Private Infrastructure and will comply with all Legal Requirements of any governmental body regarding the use or con...

	ARTICLE 5  DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND SPECIAL COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER
	Section 5.1 Litigation.  Developer will notify City in writing, within fifteen (15) business days of its having knowledge thereof, of any actual or pending litigation or adversarial proceeding in which a claim is made against Developer or against the ...
	Section 5.2 Maintenance of the Project.  Developer agrees that, for as long it has a real property interest in the Private Infrastructure, it will at its own expense (i) keep the Private Infrastructure, or cause it to be kept, in as reasonably safe co...
	Section 5.3  Liens and Other Charges.  Developer will duly pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and discharged, before the same become overdue all claims for labor, materials, or supplies that if unpaid might by law become a lien or charge upon the ...
	Section 5.4 Compliance with Laws, Contracts, Licenses, and Permits.  Developer will comply in all material respects with (a) all applicable laws related to the Private Infrastructure, (b) all material agreements and instruments related to or regarding...
	Section 5.5 Taxes.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer will pay when due all taxes imposed upon or assessed against the Site and the Private Infrastructure or arising in respect of the use or possession thereof, and will provide to City,...
	Section 5.6 Insurance.  To the extent of its interest therein, Developer, or its Affiliates, will keep the Private Infrastructure continuously insured consistent with its normal operating policies and subject to its customary deductibles and limitatio...
	Section 5.7 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments.  City and Developer agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements and amendments hereto and s...
	Section 5.8 Performance by Developer.  Developer will perform all acts to be performed by it hereunder and will refrain from taking or omitting to take any action that would materially violate Developer’s representations and warranties hereunder or re...

	ARTICLE 6  DISBURSEMENT; SPECIAL FUND; FINANCING ALTERNATIVES
	Section 6.1 Advances.
	(a) Developer shall may make or cause to be made Advances sufficient to fully install and construct all Private Infrastructure.
	(b) Developer may submit a Requisition to City for its review and approval for reimbursement for any such Advances in accordance with Section 6.2.

	Section 6.2 Disbursement.  Subject to substantial compliance by Developer with all of the material terms and conditions of this Agreement, the funds deposited into the Special Fund will be available for disbursement to Developer for reimbursement of A...
	(a) Developer may submit Requisitions to City upon paid Advances toward construction and installation of the Private Infrastructure.
	(b) The construction for which Reimbursement Costs are included in the Requisition must be reviewed and approved by City or its appointed consultant to verify the approval of the construction, the cost of completed construction, and compliance with th...
	(c) In no event shall Disbursements to Developer exceed a sum total of $188,365.

	Section 6.3 Limited Liability.
	(a) The payment of all Disbursements required by be paid by City under this Agreement shall be special or limited obligations of City payable only from the Special Fund.  City will have no liability to honor any Requisition except from amounts on depo...
	(b) To the extent permitted by State law, no director, officer, employee or agent of City will be personally responsible for any liability arising under or growing out of the Agreement.
	(c) City shall not be obligated to disburse any funds to any person under this Agreement other than as directed by Developer or as otherwise permitted under this Agreement.

	Section 6.4 Special Fund.  City will deposit the Tax Allocation Increment into the Special Fund as property tax payments are received. Any funds obtained from TAD bonds or other financing arrangements entered into by City shall also be deposited into ...

	ARTICLE 7  INDEMNIFICATION
	Section 7.1 Indemnification.  Developer will defend, indemnify, and hold City and its agents, employees, officers, and legal representatives (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) harmless for all claims, causes of action, liabilities, fines, and e...
	Section 7.2 Notice of Claim.  If an Indemnified Person receives notice of any claim or circumstance which could give rise to indemnified Losses, the receiving party must give written notice to Developer within ten (10) business days.  The notice must ...
	Section 7.3 Defense.  Developer may assume and control the defense of the claim based on the indemnified Losses at its own expense with counsel chosen by Developer with the concurrence of the Indemnified Person.  In such case, Developer will also cont...
	Section 7.4 Separate Counsel.  If Developer elects to defend a claim, the Indemnified Person may retain separate counsel, at the sole cost and expense of such Indemnified Person, to participate in (but not control or impair) the defense and to partici...
	Section 7.5 Survival.  The provisions of Article VII will remain in effect until the expiration of one (1) years after completion of the Private Infrastructure

	ARTICLE 8  DEFAULT
	Section 8.1 Default by Developer.
	(a) The following will constitute a “Default” by Developer:
	(i) Failure of Developer to materially and timely comply with and perform any of its covenants, conditions or obligations set forth in this Agreement;
	(ii) The declaration of an “event of default” by any lender under any Loan Documents, if any, with respect to Project Financing or a breach of Section 5.2;
	(iii) An Act of Bankruptcy of Developer;
	(iv) Any material representation or warranty made by Developer in this Agreement or subsequently made by it in any written statement or document furnished to City and related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is false, inaccurate or f...
	(v) Any material report, certificate or other document or instrument furnished to City by Developer in relation to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is false, inaccurate or misleading in any material respect; or if any report, certificat...


	Section 8.2 Remedies.  If a Default by Developer occurs and is continuing 60 days after receipt of written notice to Developer from City specifying the existence of such Default (or within a reasonable time thereafter if such Default cannot reasonably...
	Section 8.3 Remedies Cumulative.  Except as otherwise specifically provided, all remedies of the parties provided for herein are cumulative and will be in addition to any and all other rights and remedies provided for or available hereunder, at law or...
	Section 8.4 Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  In the event of an Event of Default by Developer, if City employs attorneys or incurs other expenses for the collection of amounts due hereunder or for the enforcement of the performance or o...
	Section 8.5 Default by City.  The following will constitute a “Default” by City:  Any material breach by it of any representation made in this Agreement or any material failure by it to observe and perform any covenant, condition or agreement on its p...
	Section 8.6 Remedies Against City.  Upon the occurrence and continuance of a Default by City hereunder, Developer may seek any remedies available at law or in equity and may assert a claim for attorney’s fees, reasonable expenses and actual costs.

	ARTICLE 9  MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 9.1 Term of Agreement; Survival.  This Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and will expire on the earlier to occur of the date on which all Reimbursement Costs have been fully reimbursed to Developer from the Special Fund
	Section 9.2 Notices.  Any notice sent under this Agreement (except as otherwise expressly required) must be written and mailed or sent by overnight courier or personally delivered to an officer of the receiving party at the following addresses:
	Section 9.3 Amendments and Waivers.  Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the parties hereto.  No course of dealing on the part of any party to this Agreement, nor any fail...
	Section 9.4 Invalidity.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held unenforceable in any respect, such unenforceability will not affect any other provision of this Agreement.
	Section 9.5 Applicable Law.  This Agreement is a contract made under and will be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the United States of America and the State of Georgia.  Venue for any legal action resulting from this Agreement ...
	Section 9.6 Entire Agreement.  This written agreement represents the final agreement between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent oral agreements of the parties.  There are no unwritten oral agre...
	Section 9.7 Approval by the Parties.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits approval or consent to be hereafter given by any of the parties, the parties agree that such approval or consent may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed...
	Section 9.8 Additional Actions.  The parties agree to take such actions, including the execution and delivery of such documents, instruments, petitions and certifications as may be necessary or appropriate, from time to time, to carry out the terms, p...


	03-03 West App
	03-03 Memo Message Boards 9
	03-03-GA-PP City of Statesboro 2 x 465T (one w cell radar ITSCM traffic stats) 1 x 432T 9
	03-03 sewer lift station pumps 10
	03-03 HGB Contract E Olliff Professional Services 11
	03-03 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Change Order #1 XXX (1) 12
	03-03 Paving project 2020 13



